**RECEIVED**

**Apr 15 2021**

**SC Court of Appeals**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

Appeal from Lexington County

Walton J. McLeod, IV, Circuit Court Judge

---

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

CHESNEE LABRI MATTRESS,

APPELLANT.

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2020-000183

---

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

---

SUSAN B. HACKETT  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

**

## **STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL**

I. In violation of the state and federal constitutional protections against unreasonable invasions of privacy, did the trial judge err in failing to suppress evidence seized pursuant to a search warrant because the prosecution failed to establish probable cause to search Appellant's residence where the affidavit in support of the warrant failed to disclose the identities of key witnesses, failed to provide evidentiary support for mere conclusory statements, and used information obtained from an illegal search – ping-pong a cell phone without a search warrant – to establish a relationship between Appellant and the residence searched?

II. Did the trial court err by allowing the state to introduce items seized from Appellant's home, including ammunition, firearms boxes, and holsters, that were irrelevant to the issues presented, and if relevant, the danger of unfair prejudice substantially outweighed the low probative value offered by the evidence?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On April 9, 2018, a Lexington County jury indicted Appellant for murder (2018-GS-32-0920) and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime (2018-GS-32-0921). R. 504 – 505; R. 507 – 508. The state, represented by Rhonda Patterson and Bradley Pogue, called the case for trial before the Honorable Walton J. McLeod, IV, and a jury on January 13-16, 2020. R. 1. Ola Johnson represented Appellant. R. 1. The jury found Appellant guilty as charged. R. 436, ll. 13-22. Judge McLeod sentenced Appellant to thirty-five years imprisonment for murder and five years imprisonment for the weapon. R. 437, ll. 12-16; R. 506; R. 509. Appellant filed a motion to reconsider her sentence on January 16, 2020. Judge McLeod denied the motion on January 27, 2020.

Appellant served her notice of appeal on February 3, 2020. This brief follows.

## ARGUMENT

I. In violation of the state and federal constitutional protections against unreasonable invasions of privacy, the trial judge erred in failing to suppress evidence seized pursuant to a search warrant because the prosecution failed to establish probable cause to search Appellant's residence where the affidavit in support of the warrant failed to disclose the identities of key witnesses, failed to provide evidentiary support for mere conclusory statements, and used information obtained from an illegal search – ping-pong a cell phone without a search warrant – to establish a relationship between Appellant and the residence searched.

### **Standard of review**

“An appellate court reviewing the decision to issue a search warrant should decide whether the magistrate had a substantial basis for concluding probable cause existed.” State v. Dupree, 354 S.C. 676, 683, 583 S.E.2d 437, 441 (Ct. App. 2003). “This review, like the determination by the magistrate, is governed by the ‘totality of the circumstances’ test.” Id.

### **Relevant facts**

Prior to trial, defense counsel moved to suppress all evidence regarding items that were seized in Appellant's home pursuant to a search warrant. R. 14, l. 13 – R. 50, l. 7. Counsel argued the search was in violation of article 1, section 10 of the South Carolina Constitution and the Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution. R. 16, ll. 10-14; R. 497. Counsel argued the affidavit in support of the search warrant contained insufficient information to support probable cause. R. 497. The affidavit provided the following:

On October 11, 2017, at 00:41 AM the Lexington County Sheriff's Department received a 911 call in reference to a shooting at the location of XXX State Pond Rd. in Gaston area of Lexington County, SC. The caller advised that a female known as Annette Riley had been shot in the face by Chesnee Mattress. Upon arrival, deputies were advised by multiple witnesses on scene that Chesnee Mattress came to the residence with other individuals after being challenged to a

fight by Jasmine Riley. The dispute between Chesnee Mattress and Jasmine Riley has been an ongoing dispute between the two females. During the altercation, Annette Riley, mother of Jasmine Riley intervened to break up the altercation and was subsequently shot in the face by Chesnee Mattress when Annette Riley was disengaging from the altercation. Through further investigation of the shooting incident which took place at XXX State Pond Rd. in the Gaston, area of Lexington County SC. Detectives located information on a known address for suspect Chesnee Mattress who was positively identified by witnesses as the shooter of Annette Riley. Deputies pinged Chesnee Mattress cell number 803.403.5514 which was located at XXXX Village Court in the West Columbia area of Lexington County, SC shortly after the shooting. Detective[s] are seeking this search warrant [to] further investigate this homicide and gather and collect any and all related evidence to further assist law enforcement with this investigation.

R. 502.

Defense counsel noted the 911 caller was not identified in the affidavit; therefore, the credibility and reliability of the information provided by the caller was unknown to the magistrate. R. 18, ll. 13-20. Further, the affidavit failed to identify the witnesses who claimed Appellant was the shooter. R. 18, ll. 21-25. Further, the affidavit failed to indicate the identity of the deputies who “pinged” Appellant’s phone, the identity of the deputies who “located information on a known address” for Appellant, or how the deputies located the address. R. 19, l. 17 – R. 20, l. 5.

Counsel noted the unlikelihood that the police were told by the phone company that Appellant was in a specific residence if the police merely obtained real time cell site location information, but the affidavit indicated the ping showed Appellant’s cell phone was at a specific residence. R. 20, l. 6 – R. 21, l. 2. Importantly, the affidavit failed to explain why the police believed the phone number listed was connected to Appellant. R. 22, ll. 1-3. Further, the affidavit failed to connect Appellant to the residence, but for the pinging of the phone. R. 22, ll. 4-10.

Sergeant Traci Barr prepared the search warrant affidavit. R. 29, l. 20 – R. 30, l. 2. Barr met with Magistrate Whittle at his home around 3:30 a.m. R. 30, ll. 18-21. She advised Judge Whittle of the shooting death of Annette Riley at the home of Melissa Riley, who was Annette’s sister. R. 30, ll. 22-25. She further advised Judge Whittle that “deputies on scene had pinged a cell phone number that they knew to be Chesnee Mattress’ cell phone number that was obtained by Deputy Woloc.” R. 31, l. 25 – R. 32, l. 3. She claimed there were “several deputies on scene who worked that area and were familiar with Chesnee Mattress.” R. 32, ll. 4-6.

Barr admitted she did not know the name of the 911 caller. R. 34, ll. 6-10; R. 40, l. 24 – R. 41, l. 2. Further, she admitted she did not know the names of witnesses who allegedly identified Appellant as the shooter. R. 35, ll. 2-7; R. 40, ll. 11-22.

Barr claimed “deputies on scene were very familiar with Ms. Mattress, so they were able to provide a cell phone number for her as a last-known cell phone number.” R. 36, ll. 3-6; R. 44, ll. 1-14. Barr claimed the police “had that address as a residence for her before the phone was even pinged.” R. 36, ll. 6-9. Detective Hart told Barr that “deputies on scene or a deputy dispatcher, someone with law enforcement, that evening, ... had pinged that cell phone number, which indicated that that cell phone was in the area or at the residence of XXXX Village Court.” R. 36, ll. 10-19; R. 41, ll. 18-22. Based upon the pinging of the cell phone, the police “had reason to believe” the phone was inside the home. R. 46, ll. 21-23. Barr claimed “this phone had been pinged to XXXX Village Court.” R. 48, ll. 4-12.

Judge McLeod found the magistrate, who determined there was probable cause, was “entitled to some level of deference.” R. 49, ll. 20-22. Thereafter, Judge McLeod denied the motion to suppress. R. 50, ll. 3-7.

## Discussion

“The Fourth Amendment provides in relevant part that ‘[t]he right of the people to be secure in their persons, houses, papers and effects, against unreasonable searches and seizures, shall not be violated.’” United States v. Jones, 565 U.S. 400, 404 (2012). “The ‘basic purpose of this Amendment,’ [the Court’s] cases have recognized, ‘is to safeguard the privacy and security of individuals against arbitrary invasions by governmental officials.’” Carpenter v. United States, 138 S. Ct. 2206, 2213 (2018) (quoting Camara v. Municipal Court of City and County of San Francisco, 387 U.S. 523, 528 (1967)).

A search warrant must be based upon probable cause. “Probable cause is defined as a good faith belief that a person is guilty of a crime when this belief rests on such grounds as would induce an ordinarily prudent and cautious person, under the circumstances to believe likewise.” Wortman v. City of Spartanburg, 310 S.C. 1, 4, 425 S.E.2d 18, 20 (1992); see also State v. George, 323 S.C. 496, 509, 476 S.E.2d 903, 911 (1996); Jones v. City of Columbia, 301 S.C. 62, 65, 389 S.E.2d 662, 663 (1990); Gist v. Berkeley County Sheriff’s Dep’t, 336 S.C. 611, 615, 521 S.E.2d 163, 165 (Ct. App. 1999). If the warrant affidavit is insufficient to establish probable cause, it may be supplemented by sworn oral testimony before the magistrate. State v. Crane, 296 S.C. 336, 338, 372 S.E.2d 587, 588 (1988); State v. Sachs, 264, S.C. 541, 216 S.E.2d 501 (1975). Evidence obtained in violation of the Fourth Amendment is inadmissible in both state and federal court. State v. Forrester, 343 S.C. 637, 643, 541 S.E.2d 837, 840 (2001) (citing Weeks v. United States, 232 U.S. 383 (1914), Mapp v. Ohio, 367 U.S. 643 (1961), Wolf v. Colorado, 338 U.S. 25 (1949)).

According to the United States Supreme Court “the Fourth Amendment protects people, not places.” Katz v. United States, 389 U.S. 347, 351 (1967). “When an individual seeks to

preserve something as private, and his expectation of privacy is one that society is prepared to recognize as reasonable,” the Court has “held that official intrusion into that private sphere generally qualifies as a search and requires a warrant supported by probable cause.” Carpenter, 138 S. Ct. at 2213. The Court has “recognized some basic guideposts” for determining the contours of the Fourth Amendment. Id. at 2214. “First, that the Amendment seeks to secure the privacies of life against arbitrary power.” Id. “Second, and relatedly, that the central aim of the Framers was to place obstacles in the way of a too permeating police surveillance.” Id.

“As technology has enhanced the Government’s capacity to encroach upon areas normally guarded from inquisitive eyes,” the Court “has sought to assure preservation of that degree of privacy against government that existed when the Fourth Amendment was adopted.” Carpenter, 138 S. Ct. at 2214. The Court has held that the government may not capitalize on new technology absent a warrant. Kyllo v. United States, 533 U.S. 27, 34 (2001).

Thereafter, the Court held that the use of a thermal imager to detect heat radiating from the side of the defendant’s home was a search, which required a warrant. Kyllo, 533 U.S. at 34. Additionally, the Supreme Court held the police must obtain a warrant before searching the contents of a cell phone. Riley v. California, 573 U.S. 373, 393-394 (2014). The United States Supreme Court held “the Government’s installation of a GPS device on a target’s vehicle, and its use of that device to monitor the vehicle’s movements, constitutes a ‘search.’” Jones, 565 U.S. at 404. Recently, the Court held “an individual maintains a legitimate expectation of privacy in the record of his physical movements as captured through [cell site location information].” Carpenter, 138 S. Ct. at 2217. However, the Court specifically reserved deciding whether an individual has a reasonable expectation of privacy in real time cell site location information. Id. at 2220.

According to the Washington Supreme Court, the reasoning of Carpenter applies to real-time CSLI. State v. Muhammad, 451 P.3d 1060, 1071 (Wash. 2019). After cataloguing the Carpenter Court's concerns with historical CSLI, the Washington Court explained that each concern applied equally to real time CSLI. Id. at 1072. "Accordingly," the Court held "a cell phone user has a reasonable expectation of privacy in real-time CSLI, and the collection of location data implicates the Fourth Amendment." Id. Other courts examining this issue have determined individuals have a constitutional privacy right to their cell phone location data. See e.g., United States v. Ellis, 270 F.Supp.3d 1134, 1145-1146 (N.D. Cal. 2017); United States v. Lambis, 197 F.Supp.3d 606, 611 (S.D.N.Y. 2016); In the Matter of an Application of the United States of America for an Order Authorizing Disclosure of Location Information of a Specified Wireless Telephone, 849 F.Supp.2d 526 (D. Md. 2011); Tracey v. Florida, 152 So.3d 504, 525 (Fla. 2014); State v. Andrews, 134 A.3d 324 (Md. Ct. Spec. App. 2016).

The Florida Supreme Court analyzed whether an individual has a reasonable expectation of privacy in "real time cell site location information of the subject cell phone that is produced when the cell phone is in use." Tracey, 152 So.3d at 516. Put another way, the question presented was "whether accessing real time cell site location information by the government in order to track a person using his cell phone is a Fourth Amendment search for which a warrant based on probable cause is required." Id. at 517. The Florida Court recognized the sanctity of one's home as a central tenet of the Fourth Amendment. Id. at 518-519. Further, the Florida Court recognized the incongruity of allowing the government to access an individual's real time cell site location information, but subjecting such information to suppression if the information revealed the user's location in his home or similar location withdrawn from public view. Id.

Such a holding would analyze the constitutionality of the search only after the fact and void the privacy protections afforded under the Fourth Amendment. Id.

Rejecting the “mosaic” theory, the Florida Supreme Court held “that basing the determination as to whether warrantless real time cell site location tracking violates the Fourth Amendment on the length of the time the cell phone is monitored is not a workable analysis.” Id. at 520. Such a theory risks arbitrary and inequitable enforcement. Id. at 521.

The court recognized that “a cell phone user can prevent locational signals from being used for tracking purposes by turning off the cell phone, thus concealing the signals and the location of the user.” Id. at 523. Nevertheless, the court held that “[r]equiring a cell phone user to turn off the cell phone just to assure privacy from governmental intrusion that can reveal a detailed and intimate picture of the user’s life places an unreasonable burden on the user to forego necessary use of his cell phone, a device now considered essential by much of the populace.” Id. The Court refused to “overlook the inexorable and significant fact that, because cell phones are indispensable to so many people and are normally carried on one’s person, cell phone tracking can easily invade the right to privacy in one’s home or other private areas, ... which, when it occurs, is clearly a Fourth Amendment violation.” Id. at 524. The court concluded that “a subjective expectation of privacy of location as signaled by one’s cell phone – even on public roads – is an expectation of privacy that society is now prepared to recognize as objectively reasonable.” Id. at 526.

Based upon the guidance from the Supreme Court regarding the Fourth Amendment’s protections of information contained on cell phones – Riley – and historical cell site location information – Carpenter, Appellant respectfully requests this Court hold individuals have a reasonable expectation of privacy in their cell phone location data, including the location data

obtained from pinging a phone or real time location information, that is protected by the Fourth Amendment, requiring law enforcement to obtain a search warrant in order to obtain.

Even if this Court were to determine that the United States Constitution affords no privacy interest in real time location information on cell phones, this Court should hold the South Carolina Constitution does. The South Carolina Constitution provides “[t]he right of the people to be secure in their persons, houses, papers, and effects against unreasonable searches and seizures and unreasonable invasions of privacy shall not be violated” and for “no warrants [to] issue but upon probable cause, supported by oath or affirmation, and particularly describing the place to be searched, the person or thing to be seized, and the information to be obtained.” S.C. Const. Art. 1, § 10.

“The South Carolina Constitution, with an express right to privacy provision included in the article prohibiting unreasonable searches and seizures, favors an interpretation offering a higher level of privacy protection than the Fourth Amendment.” State v. Forrester, 343 S.C. 637, 645, 541 S.E.2d 837, 841 (2001). “[T]he federal Constitution sets the floor for individual rights while the state constitution establishes the ceiling.” Id. at 647, 541 S.E.2d at 842. According to the Supreme Court, “[t]he focus in the state constitution is on whether the invasion of privacy is reasonable, regardless of the person’s expectation of privacy” in the place searched. State v. Weaver, 374 S.C. 313, 322, 649 S.E.2d 479, 483 (2007). “By articulating a specific prohibition against ‘unreasonable invasions of privacy,’ the people of South Carolina have indicated that searches and seizures that do not offend the federal Constitution may still offend the South Carolina Constitution.” Id. (citing Forrester, 343 S.C. at 644-45, 541 S.E.2d at 841).

The South Carolina Supreme Court recently decided State v. Counts, 413 S.C. 153, 776 S.E.2d 59 (2015). The Court noted “[o]ur state constitution’s provision protecting unreasonable

invasions of privacy *necessarily requires* some analysis of the privacy interests involved when a warrantless seizure is made on private property.” Id. at 172, 776 S.E.2d at 69 (quoting State v. Weaver, 374 S.C. 313, 326, 649 S.E.2d 479, 485 (Pleicones, J., concurring)). Explaining that “the privacy interests in one’s home are the most sacrosanct,” the Court required “some threshold evidentiary basis for law enforcement to approach a private residence.” Id. Thus, the Court required that “law enforcement must have reasonable suspicion of illegal activity at a targeted residence prior to approaching the residence and knocking on the door.” Id. at 172, 776 S.E.2d at 70.

The Washington Supreme Court examined an issue similar to the one *sub judice* using its state constitution. “Article I, section 7” of the Washington State Constitution provides that “[n]o person shall be disturbed in his [or her] private affairs, or his [or her] home invaded, without authority of law.” Muhammad, 451 P.3d at 1069. According to the Washington Supreme Court, this provision is “qualitatively different from the Fourth Amendment and provides greater protections.” Id. The Washington Supreme Court held cell site location information is a “private affair.” Id. at 1069. The Court explained that “[w]hen law enforcement loses sight of a suspected individual, officers need merely ask a cellular service carrier to ping that individual’s phone and almost instantaneously police acquire data on the suspect’s past and present location.” Id. “This location tracking technique does substantially more than binoculars or flashlights; it enables officers to see farther than even the walls of a home – it pierces through space and time to pinpoint a cell phone’s location and, with it, the phone’s owner.” Id. at 1069-1070. The Court explained that “real-time CSLI” “reveal an intensely intimate picture into our personal lives. Our cell phones accompany us on trips taken to places we would rather keep

private.” Id. at 1070. “This type of information, revealed by our public movements, can expose personal details about family, politics, religion, and sexual associations.” Id.

The Court explained that “[t]he limited nature of the information provided by a one-time ping is not dispositive of whether cell phone location data is a private affair.” Id. “This one-time ping reveals only limited information, but the nature of the information has changed – exposing a cell phone user’s attendance at a location a person would reasonably expect to be private.” Id.

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