**STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals**

Appeal from Lexington County
The Honorable Walton J. McLeod, IV, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

v.

CHESNEE LABRI MATTRESS,

APPELLANT.

Appellate Case No. 2020-000183

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

W. JOSEPH MAYE
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 100851
P.O. Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 734-6305

THE HONORABLE S. RICK HUBBARD, III
11th Circuit Solicitor
205 East Main Street
Lexington, South Carolina 29072
(803) 785-8285

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

I. The trial court did not err in denying the defense’s motion to suppress evidence for lack of probable cause supporting the search warrant for Appellant’s home.

The trial court was correct to deny Appellant’s motion to suppress the evidence seized during the search of her home at **** Village Court. The affidavit standing alone provides inherently reliable eye-witness identification of Appellant as the shooter and establishes a substantial basis for the existence of probable cause to search her **** Village Court home. With the addition of supplemental oral testimony offered by Sergeant Barr to the magistrate, Sergeant Barr well exceeded the necessary standard for probable cause for the search warrant and renders Appellant’s argument entirely meritless.

a. Appellant’s arguments concerning the use of historical cell site location information is unpreserved for review, a misapplication of law as argued, and at the time of the crime properly acquirable without a warrant under the SCA.

Appellant directs a considerable portion of her brief toward arguing that this court should hold that individuals have a reasonable expectation of privacy in their cell phone location data under the Fourth Amendment and the South Carolina Constitution. Though not a question raised below, as a matter of thoroughness Respondent will address the argument briefly so as to dispose of the matter.

First, such an argument is not preserved for appellate review. Defense counsel’s arguments presented to the trial court addressed solely the question of the sufficiency of the affidavit to establish probable cause for the search of Appellant’s home. At no point did defense counsel seek

to challenge law enforcement's access of cell phone location information (CSLI) as a violation of a right to privacy. Instead, defense counsel's remarks were strictly addressed to the perceived lack of support demonstrating the *reliability* of such information, *not its propriety*. The complete absence of such an argument at trial cannot permit the preservation of the matter for appeal. *State v. Dunbar*, 356 S.C. 138, 142, 587 S.E.2d 691, 693–94 (2003) (reciting the long held standard that “[i]n order for an issue to be preserved for appellate review, it must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial judge. Issues not raised and ruled upon in the trial court will not be considered on appeal.”).

The argument is likewise a divergent application of the law under the circumstances of this case. Historical cell site location data has generally been used to demonstrate to the jury that a defendant was *in the location of the crime at the time the crime occurred*, so as to provide circumstantial evidence of guilt against the Defendant at trial or to impeach a defendant's credibility or alibi. Generally, protections against any unlawful search and seizure revolve around the concern for improperly obtained evidence of guilt. That is not the case here, and the context and purpose of the CSLI is germane to such arguments.

Appellant's cell phone data was used exclusively to support the basis for probable cause in the search warrant sought for Appellant's home – i.e. to demonstrate to the court that since Appellant is believed to have gone home after the shooting, it stands to reason that evidence of the crime may be in the home. Respondent would argue that it is a specious position to suggest that a repeatedly identified murder suspect's home is *only* likely to contain evidence pertinent to a murder if the suspect returns, but such additional information is certainly bolstering.

In any case, even if the argument against the historical cell site location data was to be considered, and even if that argument was raised at trial so as to be preserved, Appellant has

misinterpreted her basis for prejudice and the supposed remedy is rendered moot. Unreasonable search and seizure is a protection concerning the admission of evidence at trial and is corrected by the suppression of the evidence in question *from trial*. *State v. Gamble*, 405 S.C. 409, 416, 747 S.E.2d 784, 787 (2013) (“The Fourth Amendment prohibits unreasonable search and seizure, and requires that evidence seized in violation of the Amendment be excluded from trial.”). Appellant’s cell phone location information was never admitted or even offered at trial, thus the need for suppression is moot. Likewise, law enforcement already knew Appellant’s home to be **** Village Court, so there is no colorable argument to suggest the cell site location information led to new information or the discovery of evidence. (R. p. 36, lines 3-9).

Lastly, the United States Supreme Court has already ruled on the expectation of privacy to cell site location information under the 4th Amendment. In *Carpenter v. United States*, 138 S.Ct. 2206, 2217 n. 3 (2018), the United States Supreme Court held that individuals have a reasonable expectation of privacy in the record of their physical movements captured by historical CSLI and that acquisition of more than seven days of CSLI constitutes a “search” under the Fourth Amendment. Under *Carpenter*, there would be nothing to rule the single ping of Appellant’s phone as an impermissible search.

Nevertheless, at the time of Appellant’s crime *Carpenter* had not been decided and there was no legal directive limiting or preventing law enforcement from using Appellant’s cell phone number to investigate the case as they did. Given the exigent circumstances of a murderer still being at large mere hours following the crime, law enforcement were within their bounds to track Appellant’s location via GPS “pinging” under the Stored Communications Act’s emergency

provisions without first obtaining a warrant. 18 U.S.C. §2702 (c)(4).² Thus, the issue at the time did not exist as an undeveloped matter, but as circumstance where access to such information was expressly permitted under such circumstances.

Certainly, it has long been understood that “[i]n parallel with the protection of the Fourth Amendment, the South Carolina Constitution also provides a safeguard against unlawful searches and seizures. *State v. Forrester*, 343 S.C. 637, 643–44, 541 S.E.2d 837, 840 (2001) (citing S.C. Const. art. I, § 10). “The relationship between the two constitutions is significant because ‘[s]tate courts may afford more expansive rights under state constitutional provisions than the rights which are conferred by the Federal Constitution.’” *Id.* (quoting *State v. Easler*, 327 S.C. 121, 131 n. 13, 489 S.E.2d 617, 625 n. 13 (1997)). “Therefore, state courts can develop state law to provide their citizens with a second layer of constitutional rights.” *Id.* However, for the above stated reasons the present case does not present the proper factual circumstances or a sufficient record to enable this court to revisit the holding in *Carpenter* at the state constitutional level.

Given the above arguments, Appellant’s arguments concerning the propriety of CSLI information is not properly before the court and otherwise entirely unobjectionable by both current case law and the laws in place at the time Appellant’s extremely limited CSLI information was obtained.

- b. The trial court did not err in denying the motion to suppress, as the search warrant affidavit and supplemental testimony more than adequately satisfied the substantial basis standard for probable cause.**

There is no error on the part of the trial court in denying the motion to suppress. Appellant’s arguments to the contrary are entirely meritless.

² The reason we do not possess more record testimony concerning the SCA and police efforts to ping the location of the phone is because the issue was never raised at trial.

The existing case law governing the establishment of probable cause for search warrants leaves no basis for argument against the trial court's decision in this case. Appellate review of the issuance of a search warrant is based upon whether the magistrate had a *substantial basis* for finding probable cause, based upon the totality of the circumstances, and with affordance of great deference to the trial court's decision. *State v. Wright*, 416 S.C. 353, 365, 785 S.E.2d 479, 485 (Ct. App. 2016). Moreover, "[p]robable cause is a flexible, common-sense standard." *Texas v. Brown*, 460 U.S. 730, 741 (1983). It is a "'practical, nontechnical conception'" that deals with "'the factual and practical considerations of everyday life on which reasonable and prudent men, not legal technicians, act.'" *Illinois v. Gates*, 462 U.S. 213, 231 (1983) (quoting *Brinegar v. United States*, 338 U.S. 160, 175-76 (1949)); *See also Kaley v. United States*, 571 U.S. 320, 338 (2014) (recognizing probable cause "is not a high bar: It requires only the 'kind of 'fair probability' on which 'reasonable and prudent [people,] not legal technicians, act.'") (quoting *Florida v. Harris*, 568 U.S. 237, 244 (2013) (quoting *Gates*, 462 U.S. at 231, 238).

As was demonstrated to the trial court, the text of the affidavit denotes that the 911 caller identified Appellant as the shooter *by name*. The text of the affidavit also denotes that multiple witnesses at the scene watched the altercation take place and likewise identified Appellant as the shooter, *by name*. While the consistent identification of Appellant as the shooter by multiple eye-witnesses is already an immensely strong argument for probable cause to search the home of the identified suspect, the nature of the crime itself also lends itself to the veracity of the witnesses' identifications. The text of the affidavit demonstrated that this murder occurred after Appellant had engaged in a protracted face-to-face confrontation with Victim and her family, *as opposed to a crime such as a drive-by shooting where the brief timeframe and limited visibility of the culprit may present a more challenging circumstance for an eye-witness to be confident in their*

identification. As such, the magistrate could easily discern from the affidavit the substantial reliability of the identifications by the eye-witnesses.

The affidavit further demonstrated that investigations by police provided them with Appellant's home address and phone number, and that police used this information to determine whether Appellant had gone home following the shooting. The cell phone ping demonstrated that she was at home, which bolstered law enforcement's belief that they would find evidence of the crime at Appellant's **** Village Court residence. Even based upon the contents of the affidavit alone, there existed a substantial basis for probable cause to search Appellant's home in connection with the murder that occurred just four hours prior.

The added information provided via supplemental oral testimony demonstrated that the various witnesses at the scene were friends and family of the victim and that they were familiar with Appellant by both sight and sound, so as to give additional veracity to each witness's identification of Appellant, *by name*. Sergeant Barr's oral testimony also demonstrated that the various officers that patrol the area were already familiar with Appellant and possessed Appellant's home address and phone number in their existing files, this more than satisfied the substantial basis for probable cause in this case.

Appellant's arguments at trial and on appeal suggest a number of misapplications of the law concerning probable cause. First, Appellant is mistaken to argue that the questions of credibility placed upon confidential informants carry over to the veracity of eye-witnesses at the scene of a murder. "Evidence of past reliability is not usually required when information is provided by an eyewitness because, unlike the paid informer, the eyewitness does not ordinarily have the opportunity to establish a record of previous reliability." *State v. Driggers*, 322 S.C. 506, 510, 473 S.E.2d 57, 59 (Ct. App. 1996). To the same end, the Court in *Driggers* noted that "non-

confidential informants should be given a higher level of credibility because he exposes himself to public view and to possible criminal and civil liability should the information he supplied prove to be false.” *Id.* The same principle holds true for an eye-witness. E.g., *United States v. Perkins*, 363 F.3d 317, 323 (4th Cir. 2004) (“Where the informant is known or where the informant relays information to an officer face-to-face, an officer can judge the credibility of the tipster firsthand and thus confirm whether the tip is sufficiently reliable to support reasonable suspicion.”); *United States v. Heard*, 367 F.3d 1275, 1280 (11th Cir. 2004) (holding a tip offered by an informant through a face-to-face encounter may provide a law enforcement officer with reasonable suspicion); *Milbin v. State*, 792 So. 2d 1272, 1274 (Fla. Dist. Ct.App. 2001) (“A witness who provides information to a police officer through ‘face to face’ communication is deemed to be sufficiently reliable.”); *State v. Hutz*, 144 So. 3d 618, 621 (Fla. Dist. Ct.App. 2014); *People v. Williams*, 126 N.Y.S.3d 565 (N.Y.A.D. 2020) (“Inasmuch as the individual who identified defendant as having assaulted the victim and warned that he was armed ‘was not a confidential informant but a known member of the community,’ defendant's effort to invoke the Aguilar–Spinelli test to assess her reliability is misplaced.”) (citation omitted); *State v. Fudge*, 42 S.W.3d 226, 232 (Tex.App. 2001) (finding a law enforcement officer possessed sufficient reasonable suspicion to justify an investigatory detention based on the fact he received unsolicited information about criminal activity in a face-to-face manner from an individual who was neither connected to police nor a paid informant, which made the information provided “inherently reliable”); *Wilkerson v. State*, 726 S.W. 542, 545 (Tex. Crim. App. 1996) (“When the affidavit contains information given by a named informant, this Court has held that the affidavit is sufficient if the information given is sufficiently detailed so as to suggest direct knowledge on his or her part.”); *State v. Thomas*, 673 N.W.2d 897, 908–09 (Neb. 2004) (“[B]y identifying himself or herself by

name, the informant is put in the position to be held accountable for providing a false report, which makes the informant more reliable.”) (citation omitted); *Giles v. Commonwealth*, 529 S.E.2d 327, 329-330 (Va. Ct.App. 2000) (“Although Officer Devoti did not obtain the women’s names or addresses, their reports were not an anonymous tip. He stood face to face with them and listened to their accounts. He was able to assess their credibility and the reliability of their information.”). Cf. *Navarette v. California*, 572 U.S. 393, 400 (2014) (finding an anonymous 911 call reporting erratic driving was sufficient to establish reasonable suspicion for a stop based, in part, on the fact the call provided “some safeguards against making false reports with immunity” since the caller potentially could have been traced and identified under the circumstances). From a practical consideration, unless the magistrate or officer is personally familiar with the eye-witness, simply providing the name of the eye-witness to the magistrate does nothing to add to the veracity of the witness’s statement. Appellant’s argument to the contrary is baseless.

The standard for probable cause does not require separate authenticated proof of each individual detail set forth in an affidavit as would be required at trial for the admission of evidence, nor does it require each officer involved in the investigation be present to attest to their respective independent knowledge of facts. “[M]agistrates can issue search warrants based upon hearsay information that is not a result of direct personal observations of the affiant” but rather was “given to the affiant by other officers.” *State v. Wright*, 416 S.C. 353, 365, 785 S.E.2d 479, 485 (Ct. App. 2016) (quoting *State v. Dunbar*, 361 S.C. 240, 249, 603 S.E.2d 615, 620 (Ct. App. 2004)). Appellant’s arguments that the search warrant was issued by the court without specific knowledge as to which officer(s) possessed Appellant’s address and phone number, and how that information was acquired, clashes with the permissible reliance upon hearsay from other officers who were familiar with Appellant. It likewise clashes with the focus upon the practical, commonsensical,

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